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Watertown, Wisconsin could be called one of the great strong-
hoids of the Wisconsin Ev. Lutheran Synod. In this reletively
small city of 18,000, there are four large WELS churches. As
one considers these churches and their impsct on Lutheranism and
the WELS, one wold consider first &d foremost St, Marks Ev. Lutheran
Church with its rich historicalvbackground and strong synodical
stand., One might consider St. JoHk and the roles it played in
the Missouri nad Wisconsin Synods. Even Trinity, the break-away
English Jhrch might come to mind. But very rerely would one,
at first, put St. Lukes inb this picture. But St., Lukes, the
oldest oﬂ%he WELS congregations in Watertown, does have an il-
lustrative background. And ths is a background which did have
an impact on Lutheranism ard the Lutheran congregations of Water-
town. The history of this congregation is a history of & slow
progression from Protestant "free" to Wisconsin Synod Lutheran,

Officially and formally the present St. Lukes congregation
had its origin in the year 1849, On March 26 of that yesr the
congregation was incorporated under the name, "The Evangelical
Germen Church, Watertown, Wisconsin" (Deutsche Evangelische
Proféstantischen Gemeinde.)1 This wes a congregation of German
Protestants with Reformed leaning.

Yet, to get at the real formation of the congregation, one
must go back about five years. At that time there was a big
movement in Watertown to form & large Protestant congregation.
This was to be a Protestent church which would represent all the

Protestant groups in Watertown. So the United Protestent Con-
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gregation was formed in 1844 and had the Rev. John Jones as its
pastor. But soon it wes easy to see that this "united" church
was far from being united. The Methodist began to take charge
of the congregation and in no more than & year, 1845, this con-
gregation was calling itself the Methodist Episcopal Society.2

In backlash to this Methodist takeover of the Protestant
church, one finds the Evangelical Protestant Church being set
up. From the beginning this congregatinn w&id‘be a free church--
having no ties with any church group or denomination. Though the
official fahding date for this congregation is 1849, it was al-
ready in existence in the year 1848, There is a church council
report from Jan. 7, 1849 which speaks of the council that had
been elected in 1848, Some of the early members who were instru-
mental in forming this church wee the following: Peter Rose,
William Eoeber, Peter Seaburg, George Meyer, snd Zachsrius Theu-
ring.>

The first services which this Germen Ev., Protestant Congrega-
tion held were in the Buena Vista House on Fourth Street. The
group was served primarily by a Protestant minister from Milwaukee
whose name 1s not remembered. When he was not available they were
served by the Kev. H.H. Winter, a self-professed "Latin farmer”
living in Farmington, and also by "Senstor" Meyer (who wasn't a
mingi ter and the#itle of senator was conferred on him because he
held a minor city office.)u

This first congregation was a relstively small one, totaliing
no more that ten families. Yet a year after incorporsting, 1850,

they hired their first regular pastor--the RKev. Fredrick Reutsch

(some sources had his name spelled Kentsch.) He rallied the
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congregation into building a8 small frame church on & site on
Fourth Street, one block north of Main. This church served the
group until 1866,

Before getting into a further history of this congregation ,
it might be good to give a general overview of th%character of
this congregafion throughout its Protestant years. During the
time of its formation until when The Rev, Sterz came in 1890
the word which would best depict this congregation is the word,
INDEPENDENT. This congreggion wented virtually nothing to do with
other churches or other church groups. It opereted as & "free"
congregation, having no ties with eny Synod or dénomination (other
than being Protestant.) In regards to their psstors this independ-
ence was there also., They hired their pestors on a yearly basis.
During tkse years, 1850 -1890, there were thirteen different pas-
tors. When there wds a vacancy the congregation would advertise
the position in local newspapers and Protestant journals. The
applying candidates would preach trial sermons. After thenew
ﬁastor was chosen he would be put on a three month or siz month
trial period to see if he would wrk out. If he passed the test
his. contract was extended to & year and he would be rehired each
year.6 During these years of thirteen pastors, the community
took to calling the congregation by the rae ofthgbastor who was
t here--the Doerner Church or the Joerris Church, etc.7 To keep
the paétoré from totally running the show, the congregetion for-
bad the pastor from attending the chﬁrch council or voters meet-
ings. If the pastor wanted anything done he would have to send

a formal letter to the President of the congregation.8 It wasn't
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until 1868 that the congregatim allowed the pastor to confirm.9

Returning to the history of this congregation, little can
be said of the history of the years 1850 - 1858. 1In these yeers
two different pastors served the congregationt the Eev., Goerges
and the Rev. Henry Doerner,

The year 1859 marked an event which was to playb very im-
portant part, not so much in the history and development §6 the
German Protestant congregation, but in the very foundetion and
course of neighboring St. Merks Ev. Lutheran Church. This event
helped St. Marks stabilize itself on a course of coservative
Lutheranism. In 1859 the Rev. Peter Joerris (some sources have
the name spelled Joeris) was the shepherd of the Evangelical
Protestant Church. The Rev. Sans was the pastor of St. Marks.
Rev. Sans wes a competent and likable pastor who tended to be
liberal and unionistic in his preaching and teaching. As this
event unfolded, Pastor Sans was getting a bad name because of
newspaper reports about him. Because of these bad reports the
German speaking citizens of Watertown were getting riled up
against Sans., It's interesting to note that iéwasn't just the
members of St. Marks, northe German Lutherans who were involved
in this, but nearly all of Watertown fofm the Mayor on down.

It turned out that the author of these bad reports ageainst Sans

was the Rev, Peter Joerris. In the newspaper, the Weltbuerger,

he publicly accused Sans of being an imposter. He accused Sans
of living under an aliass that his reel neme was Lenghoff. He
also accused Sans of having no theological training. All these

accusations led to much public debate, mob action, and the near
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lynching of Pastor Sans.lo

© The upshot of 211 of this was that Pastor Sans admitted he
had received his religious training at a teschers'’ Institute and

that he had taken the surénsme of his step-father.it

Nevertheless,
he felt that he had been(falselﬁ slandered. So he brought libel
charges against the Eev. Joerris. In the triel at Jefferson, the
jury found Joerris not guilty. But Sens, still smarting from
this controversy, appealed the decision to the Seate Supreme Court,
There the decision of the county court wes overturned and Joerris
was found guilty of unsupported slander. Sans was vindicated
while Joerris had to publicly retract the statements whch he ha’d
mede and pay a fine of one hundred dollers plus the ®ourt costs
of both trials.12
But the matter wasn't settled yet. Because of thebad public-
ity and the huge controversy that was caused, Pastor Sans soon
resigned from St. Mark's. St. Marks next pastor was the sainted
Rev. Bading, & conservative Lutheran pastor whockigx the young
WELS on a conservative course. He did the same for St. Merks&.
He brought St. Marks back from the liberalism of Sans to the
conservative course it has follded to the present. So one can
say that the Evahgelical Protestant Church struck a blow for
conservative Lutheranism and for the Wisconsin Synod. This
congregation was responsible for the removal of a liberal pastor
who undoubtedly would have put St. Marks on a far different course
than it followed,
In the few years following this incident, the Evangelical

Protestant Church hired a new pestor, the Rev, Fettig., In 1866

the Rev. H.C. Tack was hired ($300.00/yeer) to minister the neéds
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of this flock., At this timethecongregation was greatly expanding
and felt the present frame church would no longer serve its needs.

So the congregation moved the old frame church to a site on Second.

13

Street &8 Cady where it hoffled the Concordia Musical Society.

A new brick building was erected at the o0ld site for the sum of
four thousand dollars. The membership had now grown from the
founding few to about twenty-five f:avmilies.lLL

(The following history of this congregation from 1867 to
1889 is a compilation of events teken from the church council
minutes of those years. These were translated by Prof. Em. A.O.
Lehmann.)

The most difficult problem facing the congregation in the
year 1867 was whether to buy a new organ or not. It was finally
decided to buy one for three hundered dollars, while selling
the 0ld melodean through a raffle (tickets fifty cents each.)

. Pastor John Boetsch was pastor of this gruup when the moment-
uous de cision was mede to allow the pastor the right to confirm
the children. This took place in 1868,

In 1869 the church council passed the resolution that the
unmarried women and widows of the congregation who paid their
dues and fulfilled all their obligations would héié the "Sézmm—
faehig" oé?%ﬁe right to vote. However they were not eligible for
office. In this yesr the passtorate was vacant.

1870 was a year of change for this congregeation, 2s well.

In this year the congregation decided to restrict their independence

by Jjoining another church group. They became members of the &s-
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sociation of Free Evangelical Protestant Congregations of North
América. As will be seen later, this wes & short lived merger.

In this year the congregation also experienced problems with their
newly hired pastor, the Rev., Heyer. It seems that Pastor Heyer
had become involved in some sort of public scandel, for the church
council was forced to pass the resolution: "Since our preacher,
Mr. Heyer, did not keep his promise and is guilty of open scandel,
we pass the resolution that his@osition with us will come to an
end in three months." Faced with a debt of about sixteen hundered
dollars, the congregation sold stock (7% interest)to cover this,
using the church property as collateral.

In 1872 Pastor Gustavus Kuns was hired. This new psstor
apparently had a running feud going with the church councils the
church council publicly accused Kuns of being in error sccording
to one of the articles of the consﬂ%tdion of the congregstion,
Kuns came before the church council and successfully defended
-himself ageinst the charges. But, not surprisingly, Kuns soon
resigned. The independence of thecongregation and the personsl
attack were apparantly too much. During this year, the church
council voted to withdraw from the Association of Free Evangelical
Protestant Congregations. The cost of sending delagates to the
convention was thought to be too much of a& burden. While the
congregation couldn't find the money to belong to the Association,
it did get the funding to open up a school behind the congregation.
(This school lasted only a few years, falling victim to the money

crunch, )
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The altercation between church council and Pastor Kuns
wasn't over with, though. In 1873 thevchurch council gotﬁhe
last lick in against their former pesstos Supposedly in one of
his last sermons Pastor Kuns had hurled some charges of impro-
priety against the church council. So in their Jan. 5 meeting,
the church council members passed the following resolutions:

1. Resolved--to express regret that Pestor Kuns instead
of reconciling, so sp itefully stepped on the council.
2. Further resolved--that the council consists of con-
siderate men, all of whom during several terms have served
with distinctdn, and who, duly elected by thecongrega-
tion, performed their duty correctly end always with
free common sense.

3. Resolved that the council try to get back the pro-
posed dismissal (of the pestor) in order to (unresdable)
according to their powers thet they represented the con-
gregation faithfully.

L, To publish this in the Weltbuerger, and at the next
sevice in the church to bring them to recall to the at-~
tention of the listeners by reading them.

5« To appoint a committee to publish these resolutions.

Between the years 1874 - 1884 things were quiet with the con-
gregation. Sometime in these yeers the Rev, Sylla was the pastor.
Also from a reference in an 1888 church council meeting, there
may have also been a Pastor Zabel serving the congregation. (He
may have been pastor in 1886, but this seems unlikely according
to the records found in the Watertown City Directory.) This Pastor
Zabel agio ran afoul of thecongregation., He was referred to in
the Church Council minutes as & lg/ir, defsmer, slenderer, and
enemy of the congregation. In 1875 the church council decided
to bring iﬁ more money by establishing fees which would be charged
to non-members who desired thelservices of the pestors Baptisms

were $2,00, burials without sermons were $3.00, with sermon $5.00,
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confirmation $5.00, wedding in the church $5.00, wedding in the
pastor's home $3.00, and for any of the services held outside of
Wateftown an additional fifty cents per mile was charged.

- Around 1885 the Kev. Edward Knaak served a&s pas tor of this
Evangelical Protestant Congregation. By this time the church
had growm from the twenty-five families of 1866 to the size of
sixty families.15 In the next year there was & new pastor--the
Rev, Julius Koehlers and there was & new problem. At a quarterly
meeting it was brought up that the new pastor had many unpaid debts.
It was further reported +that he had absconded with some money
and couldn't be found. The meeting resolved to publikhthis in
the parer to warn other congregations to beware. After this the
Kev. F.A. Kaemmerer was hired to pastor thebongregation.

This then leads up to the beginning of the period of change
for the congregation--the slow path to Lutheranism which the Rev.
Herman Sterz took the congregation on. In January of 1890 Sterz
came to the Evangelical Protestant Church. One of the first things
Sterz undertook was the changing of the practice of annually re-
newing the pastor's contract. In the Dec. 26, 1890 meeting, the
Church Council decided to change Article 11, parsgraph 7 of the
constitution (dealing with the annual renewing of the pastor's
contract.) They said this "regulation was ageinst God's Word,
it is of no purpose and detrimental." They, howerer, retsined
the right to give the pastor three months notice when they wanted
him to leave the congregation. It's interesting to note that be-
fore this change there were thirteen pastors (1850 - 1889)3 but

after the change there have been only four (1890 - 1986: Sterz,
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Lorenz, Uetzmann, Vomhof,)

‘ This change in the practice of annual hiring of the psstors
was only the first step which Sterz undertook to reorganize the
congregation. It wasn't too much iater when Sterz got for himself
the right to attend the church council meetings and voters
"meetings. In the year 1897 Pastor Sterz brought in a new order
of service, This presumebly was a Lutheran liturgy. Slowly but
surely Sterz was leading them over to the side of Lutheranism.

The biggest and most important change for this congregation
came in the year 1909. This was the year when the Protestant
church emerged &s the Lutheran church. In the Sept. 15 council
meeting, the church council took up the wish and motinn of Pastor
Sterz to change the name of th#congregation from Evangelical
Protestant to Evangelical Lutheran. After much deliberstion and
discussion on this point, wighing the advantzges and disadvaﬁtages,
"the council came to the conclusion that the change would be good."
There was only one dissenting voice; and after the changeover this
person left the congregation. While the congregation still wanted
to remain independent, this ié the time when one can sdy thet it
entered confessional fellowship with the WELS., (Specifically,
they first entered confessional fellowship with the Michigan
Synod. At the 1910 Michigan Synod convention, Herman Sterz wes
listed as a pastor of that synod and as a delagate to that con-
vention., St. Lukas was listed as a church in confession with,
but not a member of, the Michigan Synod.lé)

On Oct. 27 of 1909 the name of the cmgregetion wes officially
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changed to St. Lukas Evangelicel Lutheran Congregstion. Among
thé members most prominent in leading this congregation to the
changeover into a Lutheran church were (besides Sterz): U, Hab-
hegger, H. Stolz, K. Radke, E. Zadler, H. Lammerhirt, and K.
Zabel.17 The memorial which they drew up to make this chenge

official is as follows:

"We the undersigned members of the Evangelical Protest-
ant Gongregation of Watertown, Wisconsin, declare here-
with that it is our wish and will, and we support it,
that the upto the present name of the congregation be
changed to Evangelical Lutheran Congregation, and we
ask that this memorial of the congregation be presented
at the thyfeeto designated congregation meeting and ac-
cepted and that the congregation at the same time take
the necessary steps and make the alterations in order
to make the name change legally correct. However this
proclamation must in no weay be looked upon or interpreted
as if we are attaching ourselves to any Synod."

At the time of this change, the congeegation wes listed as
four hundrend souls and nearly three hundred communicants. Two
years after the chpage Pastor Sterz held a joint meeting with
the pastor of St. Marks., At this meeting resolutions were drawn
up @nd adopted that the role of the Synodical Conference concerning
releases and acceptences of members from sister congregations
would be observed.

In the year 1916 Pastor Sterz transfereed from the Michigan
Synod into the Wisconsin Synod. From that time on St. Lukes
was listed on the roster of WELS congregations (independent but
in confessional fellowship.) Sterz had brought the church into
the Wisconsin Synod., The final chapter in this history of St.
Lukes slow progression to Luthersnism took place in 1966 when

the congregation entered into full membership in the WELS. This
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was reported at the June 13-15, 1966 Western Wisconsin District
Conventiont "In addition St. Lukes Congregation of Watertown
which has been confessionally associated with and supported the
work of the WELS since 1909, is now formally applying for full
voting membership"(p. 14 of Proceedings.) Though St. Lukes re-
mained independent for fifty-seven years, yet it was & faithful
supporter of the WELS. Statistically it contributed money to
the Synod in the same proportion as member congregations.

From thﬁyears 1909 to the present, St, Lukes has experienced
many blessings from the Lord. Kev. Sterz remained pastor until
1926, when & WELS pastor, the Rev. Paul Lorenz was called. In
1941 the Rev, I.G. Uetzmann became the minister. During his
ministry the church experienced much growth, going from 225 souls
to 700. The present pastor, the Eev, Ervine Vomhof came in 1971,

At present the congregation has stabilized around six to seven
hundred souls.,

During the past thrty years the congregation had the privilege
of building a new church on three acres of land on the south side
of Watertown. This took place in 1960 at the cost of $1?O,OOO.OO.18
In the year 1981 St. Lukes went into joint partnership with Trinity

E. Lutheran Church in maintaining a Christian Dey School.
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